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Fruit Market was being used as a front  for a FAP-trafficking operation.  
(Department Exhibit 4, pp. 51-67) 
 

3. On May 15, 2012, the United States  Department of Agriculture (USDA)  
notified the owner of the Noor  Frui t Market that the store has been 
permanently disqualified from  participating in the Supplemental Nutrition 
Assistance Program (SNAP) as  a resu lt of the USDA’s inves tigative 
findings that the owner had engaged in th e trafficking of SNAP benefits in 
violation of Section 271.2 of the SNAP regulations.   

 
4. Between January 2011 and February 2012,  Noor Fruit Market’s average 

monthly food stamp transaction amount was between approximately three 
times the average monthly food st amp transaction amount of similar 
stores in the same area.  (Department Exhibit 4, p. 52) 

 
5. During the perio d October 1, 2008 thr ough February 28, 2012,  

Respondent’s use of his Michigan Bridge card at Noor Fruit Market for 
purchases totaling $3,875.95 included 36 unauthorized transactions for a 
high dollar amount that were exc essive for a store of Noor Fruit Market’s  
size and inventory, which is indicati ve of  Respondent having bought or 
sold FAP benefits for cash or consider ation other than eligible food.   
(Department Exhibit 3, pp. 46-50; see also Department Exhibit 2, pp. 33-
45) 

 
6. As a result of Respon dent's buying or  selling of FAP benefits for cash or  

consideration other than eligible food, he rece ived an over is suance of  
FAP benefits in the amount of $  for the period October 1, 2008 
through February 28, 2012. (D epartment Exhibit 1, pp. 21-24; Department 
Exhibit 3, pp. 46-50) 

 
7. This was Respondent’s first determined IPV. 

 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The FAP – formerly known as the Food Stam p Program – was established by the Food 
Stamp Act of 1977, 7 USC 2011, et seq ., as amended, and is implemented through 
federal regulations found in 7 CFR 273.1 et seq.  The Department administers the FAP 
under MCL 400.10, et seq ., and Mich Admin Code, R 400.3001 through R 400.3015.  
Agency policies pertaining to the FAP are f ound in the BAM, Bridges Eligibility Manual 
(BEM), and Referenc e Tables M anual (RFT).  The goal of the FAP is to ens ure sound 
nutrition among children and adults.  BEM 230A. 
 
In the present matter, the Department requested a hearing to establish an ov erissuance 
of FAP benefits, claiming t hat the overiss uance was  a re sult of an IPV committed by 
Respondent.   
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When a client or group receives more benefits than they are entitled to receive, the 
Department must attempt to recoup the over issuance.  BAM 700, p 1.  An over 
issuance is the amount of benefits issued to the client group or CDC provider in excess 
of what they were eligible to receive.   
 
A suspected IPV is defined as an over issuance where: 
 

•  The client intentionally failed to report information or  
 intentionally gave incomplete or inaccurate 
 information needed to make a correct benefit 
 determination, and 
 
•  The client  was clearly and correctly instructed 
 regarding his or her reporting responsibilities, and 
 
•  The client has no apparent physical or mental 
 impairment that limits hi s or her understanding or 
 ability to fulfill their repor ting responsibilities.  [BAM 
 720, p 1.] 

 
An IPV is suspected by t he Department when there is clear and convinc ing evidence 
that the client intentionally withheld or misrepresented informati on for the purpose of 
establishing, maintaining, increasing, or pr eventing a reduction of, pr ogram eligibility or 
benefits.  BAM 720, p 1.    
 
Clients who commit an IPV are disqualified for a standard qualification per iod except  
when a court orders a different period.  Clients are disqualifi ed for periods of one year 
for the first IPV, two years fo r the second IPV, lifet ime disqualification for the third IPV, 
and ten years for a concurrent receipt of benefits.  BAM 720. 
 
A person is disqualified from FAP when an administrative hearing decision, a repayment 
and disqualification agreement or a court decision determines FAP benefits were 
trafficked.  These FAP trafficking disqualifications are a result of the following actions: 
 
 •  Fraudulently using, transferring, altering, acquiring, or possessing 

coupons, authorization cards, or access devices; or 
 
 •  Redeeming or presenting for payment coupons known to be fraudulently  

obtained or transferred. 
 
The length of the dis qualification period depends on the dollar amount of the FAP 
benefits trafficked.  A person is  disqualified for life for a FA P trafficking conviction of 
$500 or more.  The standard I PV disqualification periods apply to FAP traffickin g 
determinations made by the Michigan Administra tive Hearing Sy stem or by the client  
signing a repay agreement.  BAM 720, p. 14. 
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A disqualified client remains a member of an active benefi t group, as long as  he or she 
continues to live with the other group me mbers – those member s may continue to 
receive benefits.  BAM 720, p 12. 
 
In this case, at the January 30, 2014  disqua lification hearing, the OIG’s representative, 
regulation agent Craig Carlton, testified that, in Febr uary 2012,  a federal investigation 
by agents with the United States Department of Agriculture’s Office of Inspector General 
(USDA-OIG) revealed that N oor Fruit Market, located at  18942 Dix  Road,  Melvindale, 
Michigan, had inadequate store inventory and merchandise to  satisfy the monthly food 
stamp redemptions being reported, which redemptions indicated multiple transactions in 
a short time period and high dol lar and even dollar transactions.  As resu lt, the USDA-
OIG determined that Noor Fruit Market was being used as a front for a FAP-trafficking  
operation.  Mr. Carlton further  testified that, between J anuary 2011 and February 2012, 
Noor Fruit Market’s aver age monthly food stamp transac tion amount was between 
approximately three t imes the average m onthly food stamp transaction amount of 
similar stores in the same area.   
 
Mr. Carlton further testified that, during October 1, 2008 throug h February  28, 20 12, 
Respondent’s use of his Mich igan Bridge card at Noor Fruit Market for purchases 
totaling $  included 36 unauthorized tr ansactions for a high d ollar amount that  
were excessive for a s tore of Noor Fruit Market ’s size and inventory, which is indicative 
of Respondent having bought or sold FAP benefits for cash or  consideration other than 
eligible food.  Finally,  Mr. Carlton testifi ed that, as a r esult of Respondent's  buying or 
selling of FAP benefits for cash or consideration other than eligible food, he received an 
over issuance of FAP benefit s in the amount of $  for the period October 1, 
2008 through February 28, 2012. 
 
In response to the OIG’s case, Respondent test ified that he did not himself make any of 
the purchases attributed to his Bridge card during the time period in question.  However, 
Respondent further testified that he authorized at least three other individuals to use his 
Bridge card during this time period.  Respo ndent further testified that these individuals  
would purchase grocery items on his behalf from the Noor F ruit Market, although 
Respondent himself did not consume any of the food items purchased on his behalf due 
to his ongoing illness at the time.  Respondent nonetheless acknowledged that the Noor 
Fruit Market was not equipped with adequate food inventory to support the excessively  
high dollar amount purchases that were made at the store with his Bridge card. 
 
Testimony and other evidence must be we ighed and considered according to its  
reasonableness.  Gardiner v Courtright , 165 Mich 54, 62; 130 NW 322 (1911); Dep't of 
Community Health v Risch , 274 Mich App 365, 372; 733 NW2d 403 (2007).  Moreover, 
the weight and credi bility of this evidenc e is generally  for the fact-finder to determine.  
Dep't of Community Health , 274 Mich App at 372; People v Terry , 224 Mich App 447,  
452; 569 NW2d 641 (1997). 
 
This Administrative Law Judge has carefu lly considered and weighed the testimony and 
other evidence in the record and finds Re spondent’s explanation for the use of his 
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Bridge card at the N oor Fruit Market to  be unreasonable and incredible against the 
backdrop of the established trafficking operation at that store – however, even accepting 
Respondent’s testimony, Respondent is  ultimately responsible for the fraudulent us e of 
his Bridge card, having admitted to authorizing other individuals to use it on his behalf.   
Consequently, it is conclude d that the OIG established, under  the clear and convincing 
standard, that Respondent co mmitted an IPV in this matter, resulting in an over  
issuance of FAP benefits in the amount of  $  for the period October 1, 2008 
through February 28, 2012.   Further, because this was Respondent’s first IPV violation,  
the one-year disqualification period from the FAP program is appropriate. 
 

DECISION AND ORDER 
 
Based on the above findings  of fact and conclus ions of law, this Administrative Law 
Judge decides that  Respondent committed an intentional program violation by  
trafficking FAP benefits.   
 
It is therefore ORDERED THAT: 
 
 - Respondent shall reimburse the Department for the FAP benefits ineligibly 

received as a result of his intentional  program violation in the amount of  
$ and 

 
 - Respondent is personally disqualifi ed from participation in the F AP for a 

period of one year.  The disqualification period  will begin IMMEDIATELY 
as of the date of this order. 

 
 

 _________________ ____________ 
      Suzanne D. Sonneborn 

 Administrative Law Judge 
 for Maura D. Corrigan, Director 
      Department of Human Services 

Date Signed: January 31, 2014 
 
Date Mailed: February 3, 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 






